By_

CLERK, SUPREME COURD

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,484

RAMON LOPEZ

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Respondent.

ON PETITION TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

LAW OFFICES OF MARK KING LEBAN, P.A. 2920 First Union Financial Center 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131-5302 (305) 374-5500 Fla. Bar No. 082987

and

ARTURO ALVAREZ, ESQUIRE 2151 S.W. LeJeune Road Suite 310 Coral Gables, Florida 33134

BY: MARK KING LEBAN Counsel for Petitioner

TOPICAL

INTRODUCTION

The petitioner, RAMON LOPEZ, was the appellee/cross-appellant in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District, and the defendant in the Circuit Court in and for Dade County, Florida. The respondent, The State of Florida, was the appellant/crossappellee in the Third District, and the prosecution in the Circuit In this brief, the parties will be referred to as the Court. petitioner and the respondent or State. The record on appeal is being supplemented by the State to include the pertinent pleadings in this matter. At the time of the decision issued below, the record on appeal had not yet been fully prepared and filed. The supplemental record will be referred to as SR, followed by the particular pleading or transcript. The symbol "R" represents the limited record on appeal that was filed below. All emphasis herein is added unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The petitioner was charged by indictment with two counts of first degree murder, two counts of armed robbery, and one count of use of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense. SR-Indictment. Subsequently, petitioner filed a MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS (R.6-7), together with a SUPPLEMENT TO DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS. See SR. Numerous additional memoranda pertaining to the suppression issues were filed in the trial court by the petitioner and the State, and thereafter, the

trial court held several hearings spanning over numerous days.¹

Thereafter, on March 3, 1993, the trial judge entered an ORDER ON DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS, in which the judge granted suppression of some of the statements made by the petitioner, and denied suppression as to others. The judge entered a single, unitary, order setting forth his findings and conclusions on all of the suppression issues in that order. (R.10-12).

Thereafter, the State timely appealed from the portion of the court's order granting suppression of trial some of the petitioner's inculpatory statements. The petitioner then filed a cross-appeal from those portions of the same suppression order which denied suppression of some of the petitioner's inculpatory The State filed a motion to dismiss the petitioner's statements. cross-appeal, the petitioner responded thereto, and on August 31, 1993, the Third District issued its decision ON MOTION TO DISMISS CROSS APPEAL, in which the court granted dismissal based upon cited authority from the Third and Fourth Districts, but expressly certifying conflict with decisions from the Second and Fifth Districts, and "stay[ing] the state's interlocutory appeal until the issue is finally resolved by the Florida Supreme Court." State v. Lopez, 18 Fla.L.Weekly D1914 (Fla. 3d DCA Aug. 31, 1993). Petitioner thereafter timely filed his NOTICE то INVOKE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION, and on October 7, 1993, this Court

¹The main suppression hearings were held from November 3 through November 6, 1992. See Supplemental Record. Subsequently, several brief hearings were held. See SR-December 18, 1992; February 5, 1993; February 11, 1993. Record references to these various hearings will be made by reference to the particular date of the hearing.

issued its ORDER POSTPONING DECISION ON JURISDICTION AND BRIEFING SCHEDULE.

Because of the nature of the issue raised herein, petitioner deems it necessary and advisable to set forth some of the facts pertaining to the merits of the suppression issues, with the understanding that these issues are <u>not</u> before this Court for resolution.

The Suppression Hearing

As stated above, the petitioner was charged by indictment with two counts of first degree murder, two counts of armed robbery, and one count of use of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense. SR-Indictment. Petitioner was first questioned by Metro-Dade Homicide Detective Roland Vas beginning at approximately 10:00 a.m. on the morning of May 3, 1991, continuously through his formal arrest at approximately 6:30 a.m. on May 4, 1991, and thereafter through the taking of a formal transcribed statement beginning at 11:40 a.m. on May 4. See Nov. 3 at 28-9, 76, Nov. 4 at 11, 13-14.² Amongst the issues raised below was at what point in time during this more than 24 hour period did the petitioner's presence with the police become custodial for Miranda purposes, at what point it became an arrest, at what point Miranda warnings were administered for purposes of custodial interrogation, and what was the legal effect of any prior Mirandaless statements on the petitioner's

²References to the November hearing transcripts will be made by reference to the date of the hearing, followed by the appropriate page number. These transcripts will be contained in the supplemental record, pursuant to the State's MOTION TO SUPPLEMENT.

formal arrest, and the taking of his formal Mirandized statement.

The petitioner was initially asked to accompany Detective Vas from the Secret Service Office (where he was meeting with a Secret Service Agent in connection with an unrelated case) to the Homicide Office of Detective Vas. Nov. 3 at 22, 28-9. Vas first met petitioner at the Secret Service Office at about 10:00 a.m. on May 3, 1991, and thereafter drove the petitioner to the homicide office at approximately noon on that date. <u>Id</u>. Vas was investigating the homicide of two victims and prior to Vas' arrival at the Secret Service Office to speak with the petitioner, Vas had been given information whereby he "really start[ed] to feel that we've got a link between the two murders" and the petitioner. Nov. 3 at 22.

When Vas asked the petitioner to accompany him to the Homicide Office, he did not inform him that he did not have to go there. Nov. 3 at 26-7. The petitioner was taken to an eight foot by eight foot, windowless interrogation room. Id. at 40. At approximately 1:15 p.m. on May 3, Vas commenced a "preinterview" of the petitioner, and did not read him Miranda rights. Id. at 32. During the interrogation that ensued through the next day, May 4, no officer ever advised the petitioner that he was free to go home. Id. at 33. The interview in the early stages was more in the nature of conversation whereby the petitioner was advising the police officer of any information he had with respects to the two murder victims. Id. at 34-5. Petitioner had information more closely related as to when the crime was committed, motivation for the crime, knowledge of the drug trafficking that the victims were involved with, than anyone else. Id.

Petitioner advised Vas that he had spent that Saturday, April 27, 1991, at the Tahiti Motel, but when Vas had another officer check out this information, police could not verify the petitioner's statement. Id. at 36, 51. Detective Vas continued questioning the petitioner until about 5:45 p.m., May 3, when Sergeant Jimenez took over and questioned the petitioner about certain drug smuggling information. Id. at 40. By 6:45 p.m., May 3, petitioner was more of a suspect than anyone else Detective Vas had. Id. at 43-4.

At some point thereafter, Detective Vas made arrangements for the petitioner to take a polygraph examination; for this purpose, Detective Vas brought in a civil employee, Robert Gately. Nov. 3 at 48. Preparation for the polygraph examination began at about 7:00 p.m. by Mr. Gately, and at 8:53 p.m., May 3, Mr. Gately administered Miranda rights to the petitioner for the purpose of taking the polygraph examination. <u>Id</u>. at 48, 53. Prior to bringing petitioner to Gately for the purpose of the polygraph examination, Vas had not read the petitioner his Miranda rights. Id. at 53. It was civilian employee Gately who read the petitioner his <u>Miranda</u> rights. Id. at 55. Vas had determined to ask petitioner at this point during the questioning to take a polygraph examination since petitioner was "a witness that obviously is close to the two victims in this case who last saw them on the day that in all likelihood they had been killed. . . ". Id. at 54-5.

Mr. Gately thereafter conducted the pre-test interview, and then concluded the test at about 10:15 p.m. During that time, Detective Vas had no contact with the petitioner at all. Nov. 3 at

⁵

56; Nov. 4 at 70. Nor did Detective Vas participate in Gately's reading of the <u>Miranda</u> form to the petitioner. Nov. 3 at 67. Vas himself considered that portion of the <u>Miranda</u> rights wherein Gately advised the petitioner that "you don't have to talk to me" as meaning "the person administering the <u>Miranda</u>." This was Gately, not Detective Vas. <u>Id</u>. at 68.³

• •

Immediately after the polygraph examination was concluded, Mr. Gately advised Detective Vas that the polygraph test established that the petitioner was deceptive, and Detective Vas, when he commenced his interrogation of the petitioner at that time, told the petitioner that he had not been truthful. Nov. 3 at 68, 89; Nov. 4 at 69-70. It is at this juncture, approximately 10:16 p.m. on May 3, that Vas' tone with the petitioner changed and Vas, by his own characterization, "really start[ed] to confront him about anything he has told me." Nov. 4 at 70.

According to Vas, it is also at this point that the petitioner "started becoming a suspect. . . ". Nov. 3 at 70. Vas still did not read the petitioner his <u>Miranda</u> rights at this point, despite the fact that petitioner had been deceptive in his answers, and

³In the order that is the subject of the State's appeal (and petitioner's cross-appeal), the trial judge expressly found that the "<u>Miranda</u> warnings read to the Defendant by Robert Gately at the time he administered the polygraph examination of May 4, 1991 [sic: May 3], were not prospective in nature. The Court further finds that after the polygraph examination, the Defendant underwent custodial interrogation, in the absence of a valid waiver of his rights as required by <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, and therefore all oral statements of the Defendant. . .which were obtained from the Defendant, beginning immediately after the conclusion of the polygraph examination on the evening of May 3, 1991, up to the beginning of the formal statement at approximately 11:40 a.m. on May 4, 1991, although voluntary, are inadmissible in the prosecution's case-in-chief." See R.10-11, ¶2.

that the petitioner had become a suspect. <u>Id</u>. at 75. Vas began "confront[ing]" petitioner with things that others had related to Vas. <u>Id</u>. at 76. And, since Vas had not been able to confirm the petitioner's statement about staying at the Tahiti Motel, Vas made a determination that petitioner was no longer free to go, although Vas did not advise the petitioner of this fact. Nov. 3 at 77. Petitioner had been in Vas' "company" since approximately 10:00 that morning (May 3) and it was now approximately 10:15 p.m. Nov. 3 at 76.

Vas confronted the petitioner with certain facts linking him to a blue pickup truck that had been observed which was linked to the two murder victims. Nov. 3 at 79; Nov. 4 at 45.

In questioning that took place during this point in time, at approximately 11:00 p.m. on May 3 (after the conclusion of the polygraph examination), the petitioner told Detective Vas that one of the victims, Kevin McKeon, had two gunshot wounds in the chest and one in the back of the head; Vas knew that there was no way that the petitioner could have known this fact unless he was present at the scene of the homicide or himself did the shooting, and Vas confronted the petitioner with that fact. Nov. 3 at 80-2; Nov. 4 at 46. Although petitioner was not free to leave, Vas still did not read the petitioner his <u>Miranda</u> rights. Nov. 3 at 82. Questioning continued and it was "some time prior to 2:15 a.m. [on May 4 that Vas] consider[ed] him basically under arrest. . .".

Nov. at 83.4

At approximately 2:15 a.m., Detective Vas had Sergeant Jimenez continue the interrogation of the petitioner. Nov. 3 at 85. The "accusatory level of questioning increased." Nov. 3 at 87.

At that point when Detective Vas considered the petitioner no longer free to leave, because petitioner had given information about the McKeon homicide, petitioner no longer wanted to talk with Detective Vas, and accused Vas of "twisting his words around in English" and petitioner requested to speak with Sergeant Jimenez. Nov. 4 at 4.⁵ During the questioning by Sergeant Jimenez, the petitioner asked for permission to speak with the Secret Service Agent with whom petitioner had been cooperating in the unrelated matter and a telephone call was made from the homicide office to Agent McConnell at approximately 4:00 a.m. on May 4. Nov. 4 at 5-6. Over the speakerphone, Agent McConnell told the petitioner he should tell the truth because "it would be in his best interest. . .". Id. at 6-7. Thereafter, Sergeant Jimenez continued to interrogate the petitioner in the interrogation room. Id. at 7. After the 4:00 a.m. phone call to McConnell, petitioner asked to be permitted to speak with his brother, who was in the police building, and police permitted this, but would not allow

⁴In the order entered by the trial court, the court expressly rejected the petitioner's claim that petitioner was effectively arrested at approximately 2:15 a.m., and, instead, expressly found that "the Defendant was not under arrest at any time prior to the time the Defendant was formally arrested and charged at approximately 6:30 A.M. on May 4, 1991." (R.11, ¶4).

^{&#}x27;It was established at the suppression hearing that Sergeant Jimenez is the godfather of victim Danilo D'Armas' children. Nov. 4 at 4.

petitioner to speak with his brother unmonitored. Nov. 4 at 9-10.

. 1

At a point in time shortly before 6:00 a.m., on May 4, the petitioner made an admission to Sergeant Jimenez that he had participated in the killings, or that he did them himself. Nov. 5 at 79-80; Nov. 4 at 54-5. It was at that point, after the petitioner's admission of his participation in the killings, that Detective Vas considered that he had probable cause to formally arrest the petitioner, and he did so at 6:30 a.m., by advising the petitioner that he was under arrest and handcuffing him. Nov. 4 at 11; Nov. 5 at 80-1. Although the officers considered that they had probable cause to arrest the petitioner for first degree murder, no <u>Miranda</u> warnings were, at that time, or at any time previously, read to the petitioner by either Detective Vas or Sergeant Jimenez. Nov. 5 at 80-1.

After the petitioner was formally arrested, at 6:30 a.m., Detective Vas and Sergeant Jimenez took the petitioner to another location in the building for booking and fingerprinting. Nov. 4 at 11, 54-5. At some point as the petitioner was being led to the fingerprinting section by Sergeant Jimenez, there was a conversation in Spanish. As they were walking to the fingerprinting section, the petitioner said, "Jimenez, I did it, I killed him. I am going to tell you the truth." Nov. 5 at 102-3.⁶

⁶In the trial court's order, the court expressly found that this conversation in Spanish between the petitioner and Sergeant Jimenez "during the fingerprinting process that took place between 6:30 a.m. and 7:30 a.m. on May 4, 1991, was initiated by the Defendant, that the statements made by the Defendant at that time were volunteered. . .and that the aforesaid statements are therefore admissible." (R.11, ¶3). It should be noted that the petitioner had made the very same admission to Sergeant Jimenez and

After the fingerprinting process was completed, the officers brought the petitioner back to the homicide office and the interrogation room where they had previously conducted the questioning. Nov. 5 at 83. Still, no police officer had advised the petitioner of his <u>Miranda</u> rights. Nov. 5 at 83.

2.0

After the fingerprinting process, and the petitioner was returned to the interrogation room, Detective Vas, still without advising the petitioner of his <u>Miranda</u> rights, continued questioning the petitioner and the petitioner described all the events of the homicide in detail. Nov. 4 at 13, 57; Nov. 5 at 83-4, 103. This interrogation continued for approximately another two hours. Nov. 5 at 84.

At approximately 11:40 a.m., a stenographer was brought to the room and a formal statement was commenced. Nov. 4 at 13, 58. It is at this time, 11:40 a.m. on May 4, 1991, that a police officer first administered the <u>Miranda</u> warnings to the petitioner. Nov. 4 at 59; Nov. 5 at 85. At no time, from the commencement of the petitioner's contact with Vas at approximately 10:00 a.m. on May 3, through the taking of his formal transcribed statement at 11:40 a.m. on May 4, did the petitioner ever sleep. Nov. 4 at 14. **The Trial Court's ORDER ON DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS**

In petitioner's motion to suppress statements, petitioner raised several grounds, including that when he was taken to the Metro-Dade Homicide Office, he was effectively under arrest without

Detective Vas previously, in the interrogation room, during that portion of the questioning that the trial court ruled was conducted without <u>Miranda</u> warnings. (See R.10-11, \P 2). And see Nov. 4 at 54-5; Nov. 5 at 79-80.

probable cause, that that arrest was illegal, and that all statements obtained thereafter were inadmissible; that when petitioner was at the homicide office, regardless of whether he was legally or illegally arrested, he was in custody for a double homicide and any statements he made to police officers without those officers reading him his <u>Miranda</u> rights were inadmissible; petitioner's motion further alleged that the <u>Miranda</u> warnings administered to him by civilian employee Robert Gately were limited to statements petitioner gave during his polygraph examination only; petitioner further alleged that statements made to the police officers after the polygraph examination was concluded were made in the absence of proper <u>Miranda</u> warnings and were inadmissible; and the statements made by the petitioner were involuntary based upon the overbearing police conduct which included some sixteen hours of continuous and confrontational police questioning.

The trial court's ORDER ON DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS appears at R.10-12. The court first finds that all oral statements made by the petitioner on May 3 up to and including the commencement of the polygraph examination administered by Robert Gately at approximately 9:00 p.m. [8:53 p.m.] are voluntary since the petitioner was not subjected to custodial interrogation during that time period, "thus not triggering the requirements of <u>Miranda</u> <u>v. Arizona</u> and therefore the said statements are admissible." (R.10, \P 1).

Next, the court finds that the <u>Miranda</u> warnings read by Robert Gately during the administration of the polygraph examination "were not prospective in nature," and that after the

polygraph examination, "the Defendant underwent custodial interrogation, in the absence of a valid waiver of his rights as required by <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, and therefore all oral statements of the Defendant. . .which were obtained from the Defendant, beginning immediately after the conclusion of the polygraph examination on the evening of May 3, 1991, up the beginning of the formal statement at approximately 11:40 a.m. on May 4, 1991, although voluntary, are inadmissible in the prosecution's case-in-chief." (R.10-11, \P 2).

Next, the court finds that the conversation between the petitioner and Sergeant Jimenez "during the fingerprinting process that took place between 6:30 a.m. and 7:30 a.m. on May 4, 1991, was initiated by the Defendant, that the statements made by the Defendant at that time were volunteered, that <u>Rhode Island v.</u> <u>Innis</u>, and its progeny are inapplicable to the instant case and that the aforesaid statements are therefore admissible." (R.11, **1**3).

Next, the court finds that the petitioner was not placed under arrest "at any time prior to the time the Defendant was <u>formally</u> arrested and charged at approximately 6:30 A.M. on May 4, 1991." (R.11, \P 4).

Next, the court finds that the "oral statements deemed inadmissible under paragraph two (2) herein, because they were obtained in violation of a valid waiver of <u>Miranda</u>, were properly used to establish probable cause to arrest the Defendant and were

the basis of the arrest of the Defendant."⁷ (R.11, \P 5).

Finally, the court finds, with respect to the formal transcribed statement taken from the petitioner at approximately 11:50 a.m., on May 4, 1991, that said formal transcribed statement "was obtained after a valid waiver of <u>Miranda</u> rights, that it was the voluntary statement of the Defendant and that therefore it is admissible." (R.12, \P 6).⁸

⁷The court thus found that, notwithstanding the fact that the statements made by the petitioner to police after the polygraph examination was concluded were inadmissible because they were obtained in the absence of any valid <u>Miranda</u> waiver, those same statements could be, and actually were, properly used as the basis to establish probable cause for the arrest of the petitioner. It is this ruling, as well as that contained in paragraph three of the trial court's order concerning the "volunteered" statements, that petitioner seeks to challenge in his cross-appeal in this case.

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