047  
**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

DEC 13 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,484

RAMON LOPEZ,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

\* \* \* \* \*

ON PETITION TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW JURISDICTION  
TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT  
OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

CONFLICT CERTIFIED

\* \* \* \* \*

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH  
Attorney General  
Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND  
Florida Bar No. 0239437  
Assistant Attorney General  
Department of Legal Affairs  
P.O. Box 013241  
401 N. W. 2nd Avenue (N921)  
Miami, Florida 33101

## INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, RAMON LOPEZ, was the appellee/cross-appellant in the District Court and the Defendant in the trial court. The Respondent, The State of Florida, was the appellant/cross appellee in the District Court and the State in the trial court. The parties will be referred to as they stood before the trial court. The symbol "R" will designate the Record on Appeal and the symbol "SR" will designate the supplemental record on appeal. All emphasis has been supplied unless otherwise indicated.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts the Defendant's Statement of the Case and Facts as a substantially accurate account of the proceedings below.

POINTS ON APPEAL

I.

WHETHER A DEFENDANT HAS A RIGHT TO CROSS APPEAL WHEN THE STATE TAKES AN INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL.

II.

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD AMEND THE FLORIDA RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE TO EXPRESSLY PROVIDE FOR THE RIGHT OF A CRIMINAL DEFENDANT TO APPEAL FROM ADVERSE PRETRIAL ORDERS PRIOR TO A FINAL JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellate rights are conferred either by statute or court rule. Since only this Court can authorize interlocutory appeals, the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure must provide for a criminal defendant to maintain interlocutory appeals in order for a defendant to maintain a cross-appeal of the same order. Since the Rules do not so provide, then a criminal defendant's cross appeal from a State interlocutory appeal is not authorized and therefore not maintainable.

The rationale for the failure of the Rules to provide for interlocutory appeals by criminal defendants is simple. The Defendant has a right to review all pretrial and trial rulings from a final judgment of conviction or sentence. The State, on the other hand, can not appeal from a final judgment of acquittal. Therefore, the difference in treatment by the rules of appellate procedure is justified.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

A DEFENDANT DOES NOT HAVE A RIGHT  
TO A CROSS-APPEAL WHEN THE STATE  
TAKES AN INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL.

Does a Defendant have a right to a cross-appeal when the State takes an interlocutory appeal. The answer is ascertainable only by review of the different provisions which endow parties with rights to appeal. These provisions are found within the Florida Constitution, Florida Statutes, and the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. It matters not that the jurisdiction of a District Court of Appeal is timely invoked, but rather if timely invoked, is there a right of review. For if there is no right to review a timely filed action requires dismissal.

Article V, Section 4 (b)(1), Florida Constitution provides:

District courts of appeal shall have jurisdiction to hear appeals, that may be taken as a matter of right, from final judgments or orders of trial courts, including those entered on review of administrative action, not directly appealable to the supreme court or a circuit court. They may review interlocutory orders in such cases to the extent provided by rules adopted by the supreme court.

This Court has interpreted the foregoing constitutional provision to mean that the right of appeal from a final judgment, both



criminal and civil, is prescribed by statute . State v. Creighton, 469 So. 2d 735, 740 (Fla. 1985). The review of nonfinal orders is controlled by court rule. State v. Smith, 260 So.2d 489 (Fla. 1972).

Appeals in criminal cases by Defendants from final judgments or orders are controlled by Section 924.06, Florida Statutes which provides:

(1) A defendant may appeal from:

(a) A final judgment of conviction when probation has not been granted under chapter 948, except as provided in subsection (3);

(b) An order granting probation under chapter 948;

(c) An order revoking probation under chapter 948;

(d) A sentence, on the ground that it is illegal; or

(e) A sentence imposed outside the range recommended by the guidelines authorized by s. 921.001.

(2) An appeal of an order granting probation shall proceed in the same manner and have the same effect as an appeal of a judgment of conviction. An appeal of an order revoking probation may review only proceedings after the order of probation. If a judgment of conviction preceded an order of probation, the defendant may appeal from the order or the judgment or both.

(3) A defendant who pleads guilty or nolo contendere with no express

reservation of the right to appeal shall have no right to a direct appeal. Such a defendant shall obtain review by means of collateral attack.

The State in criminal cases, does not have right to appeal from a final judgment or order entered in a criminal defendants favor. State v. Creighton, supra, at 740. The State, pursuant to Section 924.07(4), has the statutory right to take a cross-appeal from a ruling on a question of law when a criminal defendant is convicted and appeals from the judgment. Ramos v. State, 505 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1987).

Interlocutory criminal appeals are controlled by Rule 9.130(a)(2), Fla.R.App.P., which provided:

(2) Review of non-final orders in criminal cases shall be as prescribed by rule 9.140.

Rule 9.140, Fla.R.App.P. only gives the State the right to appeal pretrial orders in criminal cases. State v. Pierce, 269 So.2d 664 (Fla. 1972).<sup>1</sup> See Rule 9.140 (c)(1)(A-J), Fla.R.App.P. In

---

<sup>1</sup> Although State v. Pierce, 269 So. 2d 664 (Fla. 1972) was decided under the old appellate rules, it is still valid herein. The Pierce court relied on Rule 6.3(b), which rule gave the State the right to appeal those orders enumerated in Sec. 924.071, Florida Statutes. This statute, the present version which was in effect in 1972, permits State appeals from pretrial orders suppressing confession or admissions made by a defendant. The failure of Rule 6.3(b) to refer to Section 927.07, Florida Statutes is of no moment since review of orders listed in said section were permitted since the Courts heard the appeals as petitions for writ of certiorari. State v. Smith, supra, State v. Redden, 269 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 2d DCA 1972).

addition to the appealable orders listed in Rule 9.140(c)(1), the State, pursuant to Rule 9.130(b)(2) has the right to petition the district court for a writ of certiorari to review pretrial orders which are not listed in Rule 9.140(c)(1). This review is contingent upon the State's showing that the pretrial ruling would effectively negate the State's ability to prosecute; that there is no adequate remedy of law; and that the ruling is a departure from the essential requirements of law. State v. Pettis, 520 So.2d 250 (Fla. 1988).

This Court has not authorized interlocutory appeals by defendants in criminal cases. State v. Pierce, supra. Further, this Court has not authorized criminal defendants to seek the certiorari jurisdiction of the district courts to review adverse pretrial orders. This right has not been granted to a criminal defendant because he cannot show prejudice because he always has the right of appeal from a conviction in which he can attack any erroneous interlocutory order. State v. Pettis, supra, at 253, n2.

Based on the foregoing statutes and rules, the right to appellate review in criminal cases is strictly controlled. The State's only statutory right to appeal is on rulings on questions of law only after a conviction is obtained and the defendant appeals therefrom. The State, pursuant to rules of court, has the right to file interlocutory appeals as enumerated in Rule

9.140(c)(1)(A-J), Fla.R.App.P. and petition for a writ of certiorari on all other pretrial rulings. The Defendant, on the other hand, only has a statutory right to appeal from adverse final judgments, as enumerated by Section 924.06, Florida Statutes. This Court has not promulgated any rule of court which gives criminal defendants the right to take interlocutory appeals and this Court explicitly refused to give a criminal defendant the right to take a petition for certiorari.

Except for Section 924.07(4), Florida Statutes, both the statutes and court rules are silent as to the parties rights to cross-appeal. This silence, the State submits, is intentional since, as established hereinafter, the only cross-appeals that are permissible are those cross appeals which can be maintained independently of the main appeal.

In Ramos v. State, 469 So. 2d 145 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), approved, 505 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1987) the Third District held, and this Court approved that a State's cross appeal filed pursuant to Section 924.07(4), Florida Statutes does not survive the dismissal of the Defendants main appeal. This is so because the statutory right authorizing the cross appeal, only authorized it when the defendant appealed from a judgment of conviction. This rule does not apply when the cross appellant had a right to have initially appealed the adverse ruling encompassed in the judgment of conviction and sentence. Therefore, the State's cross-appeal

of an illegal sentence of one imposed outside of the recommended range of the guidelines, survives the defendant's dismissal of the main appeal.

The rationale of Ramos supports the State's position that cross appeals are only authorized when the action can be maintained independently from the main appeal. According to Ramos there must be an independent right to appeal in order for a cross appeal to be maintained. As this Court stated in Ramos, "[s]ubstantive rights conferred by law can neither be diminished nor enlarged by procedural rules adopted by this Court." Id. at 421. Applying this principle herein, establishes that without a substantive rule of court authorizing interlocutory appeals by criminal defendants, a cross appeal of such an order is not permissible. The fact that Rule 9.110(g), Fla.R.App.P. only deals with the time to file a cross appeal, is further support since said rule merely allocates jurisdiction rather than conferring appeal rights. Therefore, authorization for a cross appeal must exist, not under the cross appeal, but rather for review of the order under consideration. The determining factor is whether there is a right to review the order, not the type of action in which it can be maintained.

Simply stated, when a criminal defendant has a right to appeal adverse interlocutory orders prior to a final judgment of conviction, then it can be filed as a cross-appeal as well. When

a criminal defendant does not have right to appeal adverse interlocutory order's prior to a final judgment of conviction, then it can not be filed as a cross appeal since by so doing it would confer substantive rights through a procedural rule.

The Third District in State v. Williams, 444 So. 2d 434 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) in a similar situation, reached the conclusion as the State's posits herein. In Williams, the State, pursuant to Rule 9.140 (c)(1)(c), filed an interlocutory appeal from an order which granted the defendant a new trial. The defendant cross-appealed challenging that part of the same order which denied the defendants motion for new trial on other grounds and from an order denying this motion for judgment of acquittal. The Third District denied the State's motion to dismiss the cross appeal on the ground that the orders sought to be reviewed through the cross appeals were, in reality, final orders in which the defendant could have maintained an independent appeal. The Third District found support in Rule 9.110(a)(1) and (3), Fla.R.App.P. which permits appeals from final orders and from orders granting a new trial, in criminal cases and in Rule 9.110(g), Fla.R.App.P. which permits cross appeals in actions taken pursuant to Rule 9.110, Fla.R.App.P. The Third District strictly limited a defendants right to maintain a cross appeal to appeals taken from final orders or orders granting a new trial. This holding was based on the fact that there is both statutory and court rules authorizing the maintenance of an independent appeal from said orders.

The Third District distinguished this Court's decision in State v. McKinney, 212 So.2d 761 (Fla. 1968) as follows:

We point out, however, that this right of cross-appeal, provided for solely in Rule 9.110(g), is thereby limited to the appeals contemplated by Rule 9.110(a), that is, in the criminal case, appeals from final orders or orders granting a new trial. In contrast, the appellate rules in existence when *McKinney* was decided contained no such limitation. Thus, while *McKinney* still stands as controlling authority for the proposition that a criminal defendant is permitted to cross-appeal a portion of an order adverse to him even though no rule or statute would authorize a direct appeal by the defendant from the order. *McKinney* is no longer authority for the proposition that a defendant is permitted to cross appeal an order granting in part his motion to suppress, since such an order is not final. However, the fact that the present appellate rules have abrogated the defendant's right to cross-appeal from an interlocutory suppression order has no effect on the case before us. Here the order from which the State has appealed is an order granting a new trial, an appeal to which the right of cross-appeal attaches under Rule 9.110(g).

Id. at 438 (footnotes omitted).

A reading of the old rules of appellate procedure bears out the Third Districts distinguishment of McKinney. The old

appellate rules are similar to the present rules. Part VI<sup>2</sup> of the old rules dealt with criminal appeals and, pursuant to Rule 6.1 criminal appeals were to be prosecuted in accordance with Part VI and with such other provisions of the rules not inconsistent with Part 6. Rule 6.7, the rule relating to assignments and cross-assignments of error, pertained only to appeals taken from final judgments or sentences, except when appeal is taken by the State pursuant to Section 924.07(4), Florida Statutes.<sup>3</sup> Part VI did not specifically prohibit a defendant from taking a cross-appeal in those instances when the main appeal has been taken by the State from an interlocutory order. Part IV, Rule 4.2 dealt with interlocutory appeals in civil action. Said rule, in subsection (b) provided only for assignments of errors. Subsection (g) of Rule 4.2 stated that unless modified by this rule, other appellate rules shall apply to interlocutory appeals. Rule 3.5(b) permitted cross appeals by the appellee in civil actions.

Based upon a reading of these rules, this Court in McKinney, approved the right of a defendant to maintain a cross appeal from a State appeal of an interlocutory order. The

---

<sup>2</sup> A copy of old rules relied upon herein are attached hereto, for the Courts convenience, as an appendix to this brief.

<sup>3</sup> This Statute is the same one that was approved by this Court in Ramos v. State, 505 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 1987).



approval was based on the following rationale stated in State v. McInnes, 133 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 1st DCA 1961).

[1,2] It is generally held that cross-assignments of error are allowable only when they could have supported a separate and distinct appeal, unless they relate to the same judgment from which the main appeal is taken. Under this general principle, as well as under our rules of appellate procedure, the appellee in this case would not have the right to maintain a separate and distinct appeal from the order denying his motion to quash the information. This is for the reason that appeals from interlocutory orders entered in criminal cases may not be the subject of an interlocutory appeal unless specifically authorized by statute or rule of the Supreme Court. He does, however, have the right to maintain his cross-appeal in this case since it relates to the same order from which the State's appeal is taken. For the foregoing reasons the State's motion to dismiss the cross-appeal taken by appellee herein is denied.

Id. at 583. (footnote omitted).

The Third District, in distinguishing McKinney, compared the old rules with the new and found there was a significant change in the language of the new rules. The new rules under Rule 9.140(a) continued to treat criminal appeals as civil appeals except as modified by Rule 9.140. Since Rule 9.140, the rule relating to criminal appeals, did not mention cross appeals,

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